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LICENSEE: 
The inspection was an examination of the activities conducted under your license as they relate to radiation safety and to compliance with the Nuclear 
Regulatory Commission (NRC) rules and regulations and the conditions of your license. The inspection consisted of selective examinations of 
procedures and representative records, interviews with personnel, and observations by the inspector. The inspection findings are as follows: 

0 1. 

D 2. 

D 3. 

D 4. 

Based on the inspection findings, no violations were identified. 

Previous violation(s) closed. 

The violations(s), specifically described to you by the inspector as non-cited violations, are not being cited because they were self-identified, 
non-repetitive, and corrective action was or is being taken, and the remaining criteria in the NRC Enforcement Policy, to exercise 
discretion, were satisfied. 

Non-cited violation(s) were discussed involving the following requirement(s): 

During this inspection, certain of your activities, as described below and/or attached, were in violation of NRC requirements and are being 
cited in accordance with NRC Enforcement Policy. This form is a NOTICE OF VIOLATION, which may be subject to posting in accordance 
with 10 CFR 19.11. 
(Violations and Corrective Actions) 

Statement of Corrective Actions 
I hereby state that, within 30 days, the actions described by me to the Inspector will be taken to correct the violations identified. This statement of 
corrective actions is made in accordance with the requirements of 10 CFR 2.201 (corrective steps already taken, corrective steps which will be taken, 
date when full compliance will be achieved). I understand that no further written response to NRC will be required, unless specifically requested. 
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PROGRAM SCOPE 

The licensee was a non-destructive testing company authorized to use radioactive material for industrial radiography in 
Griffith, Indiana, and at temporary job sites throughout NRC jurisdiction. The licensee stored radiographic exposure 
devices at their main location and occasionally conducted radiographic operations in a vault on the premises. The 
licensee employed 7 radiographers and 2 radiographer's assistants. The licensee had a QSA Global Model 680B camera 
containing a cobalt-60 sealed source. In addition, the licensee had five QSA Global Model 880 Delta cameras containing 
iridium-192 sealed sources. The cameras were dispatched from the Griffith office only. During the inspection, there 
were no licensed activities conducted. 

The inspector: (1) reviewed selected documents showing qualifications for several radiographers; (2) observed the 
permanent radiographic installation (PRI), and it was as per the diagram; (3) used an NRC calibrated survey instrument 
to conduct an independent ambient exposure rate survey at the surface of a Model 880 Delta camera containing an 
irridium-192 source, and the survey result was 55 milliRoentgens per hour; ( 4) observed a demonstration of how a 
radiographer conducted radiography in the PRI, based on a scenario from the inspector; (5) noted that there were no 
incidents since the previous inspection; (6) reviewed the licensee's utilization log; (7) reviewed selected records of 
radiographers and radiographer's assistants audit records; (8) reviewed dosimeter records for 2018 and 2019 (through 
8/31) and the whole body doses were well below the occupational dose limit; (9) observed a radiographer demonstrate 
how he had conducted radiography at a temporary job site including testing a calibrated RA-500 alarm ratemeter, and 
zeroing the calibrated direct reading dosimeter (ORD), and how he would respond to an alarm ratemeter alarm; (10) 
observed a radiographer demonstrate how he would respond to a source stuck out of the camera without shielding based 
on a scenario posed by the inspector; (11) noted that selected RA-500 alarm ratemeters were calibrated; and (12) noted 
that selected DRDs were calibrated. 

No findings of significance were identified. 
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